1953

W. N. Preas v. Ray Phebus et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

(All italics, unless otherwise noted, have been added
by Appellant).

Pleadings and Judicial Proceedings

This action was initially commenced by complaint
filed by appellant in the District Court of the Fourth
Judicial District on May 16, 1950 (R. 1). The case was
thereafter removed to the Federal District Court of the
District of Utah, the motion of appellant to remand
denied, and the case was tried before the Federal Court

without a jury on March 12, 1951. Thereafter appeal was taken to the United States Court of Appeals, Tenth Circuit, which court remanded the cause to the Utah District Court for further proceedings. *Preas v. Phebus*, 195 F. (2d) 61 (C.C.A. 10).

After the case was remanded to the State Court, the appellant filed an amended complaint (R. 12 to 28). The original complaint was in substance that of a typical quiet title action, and the amended complaint which formed the basis of the present trial (R. 12 to 28) retained the substance of the original complaint but broadened the issues to include other foundations of recovery. The complaint alleges that appellant W. N. Preas is the owner of a one-third of 1% oil royalty in and to 440 acres of land located on the Ashley Valley structure in Uintah County, Utah, that respondents wrongfully claim they are the owners of the same, and that they have refused to pay to appellant the royalties to which he is entitled following the discovery of oil on such lands in 1948. The prayer of the complaint seeks a decree to remove the cloud and quiet title in respondent, and in the alternative that certain conveyances of record be declared void and respondents Ray Phebus and Paul Stock compelled to execute a conveyance of such interest to appellant, or that the court decree that respondents hold the royalty interest in trust for the use and benefit of appellant, and finally for an accounting of the proceeds due appellant from the sale of oil which had been produced from said land.

Respondent Ray Phebus filed an answer disclaiming

any interest in the royalty involved (R. 4, 5). The remaining respondents filed an answer denying the right of recovery and pleading a number of affirmative defenses including limitations, failure of appellant to demand a reconveyance of his royalty interest, accord and satisfaction, estoppel and laches. Many of the facts are admitted by the pleadings and will be detailed hereafter.

The case was tried before the District Court at Provo, Utah, on June 1, 1953, and a memorandum decision filed on July 30, 1953 (R. 35), awarding judgment to respondents no cause of action. Findings, conclusions and decree were thereafter filed on September 3, 1953 (R. 38 to 44).

Facts

On February 23, 1925, appellant, W. N. Preas, acquired by grant from M. P. Smith and Ellen M. Smith, his wife, in perpetuity, a royalty interest of 1% of the oil and gas in and upon 480 acres of land located in Township 5 South Range 22 East Salt Lake Meridian (Exhibit A), which was duly recorded.

Thereafter on October 11, 1930, Lucius A. Dick, James Wash Sheridan, J. N. Wyman, Ida H. Sheridan, Francis Hamilton Sheridan, N. J. Meagher and W. N. Preas, Appellant herein, as owners of oil and gas royalty interests in and to 440 acres of the lands described in Exhibit 1, executed an agreement with respondents Paul Stock and Ray Phebus (Exhibit C), which was duly recorded. As this agreement is in one respect the focal point of the controversy herein, the same is set forth in full, excluding only the signatures:

(Typographical errors are those of the exhibit.)

"Entry No. 8378

ASSIGNMENT ROYALTY INTEREST

This agreement and assignment made this 11th day of October 1930 between the undersigned owners, partie parties of the first part, and Paul Stock of Cody, Wyoming and Ray Phebus of Thermopolis, Wyoming parties of the second part,

WITNESSETH

Whereas the parties of the first part are the owners of certain royalties in the gas now being produced and that may hereafter be produced from the following described lands situated in the County of Uintah, State of Utah, to-wit:-

South East quarter ($SE\frac{1}{4}$), of Southeast quarter ($SE\frac{1}{4}$) of Section fifteen (15) East half $E\frac{1}{2}$) of Northeast quarter ($NE\frac{1}{4}$) and the Northeast quarter ($NE\frac{1}{4}$) of the Southeast quarter ($SE\frac{1}{4}$) of Section twenty two (22) Northwest quarter ($NW\frac{1}{4}$) of the Northwaet quarter ($NW\frac{1}{4}$); South half ($S\frac{1}{2}$) of Northwest quarter ($NW\frac{1}{4}$); Southwest quarter ($SW\frac{1}{4}$) of Northeast quarter ($NE\frac{1}{4}$); North half ($N\frac{1}{2}$) of Southwest quarter ($SW\frac{1}{4}$) and the Northwest quarter ($NW\frac{1}{4}$) of the Southeast quarter ($SE\frac{1}{4}$) of Section twenty three (23) Township Five (5) South, Range Twenty two (22) East;

and whereas said parties of the first part are also the owners of certain royalties in the oil which may be hereinafter be produced and saved from said land; AND WHEREAS the parties of the second part are the owners of certain Interests in the Oil and Gas that may be produced from said land and are desirious of negotaiting with a responsible oil production Company for the

drilling of a deep test well on said ground, but cannot perfect said negotiations due to the fact that there are now outstanding royalties of eighteen and one-half ($18\frac{1}{2}$) percent which it is desirable to reduce to a total Royalty of twelve and one half ($12\frac{1}{2}$) percent; AND WHEREAS such drilling well not only test such land for oil, *but offers the possibility of further developing the gas production from said land to the benefit of the holders of said gas royalties.*

NOW THEREFOR: in consideration of the premises of procuring the drilling of a deep test well on said land, for the consideration of One Dollar (\$1.00) and other valuable considerations the undersigned parties of the first part, being the owners of the respective royalties interests as hereinafter set opposite their respective signatures, do hereby sell, assign and set over unto the parties of the second part One third $\frac{1}{3}$ of their respective royalty interests in the oil produced and saved from said land.

IT IS EXPRESSTY UNDERSTOOD AND AGREED That this assignment does not apply to the royalty interests of said parties of the first part in gas produced from said land. *This assignment is made for the purpose of procuring the drilling of a well to test the said land for oil under the agreement between the said Paul Stock and Ray Phebus on the one part and the Standard oil company of California and/or one of its subsidiaries, on the other part, hereinafter designated as the operating Company. If the negotiations of the said Paul Stock and Ray phebus shall result in the drilling, within the limitations hereinafter provided of a test well upon the Ashley Valley Structure to the depth of the pennsylvanain formation or to such lesser debth as shall produce Oil*

in commercial quantities, then this assignment shall be at full force and effect as to the oil royalties hereinafter set forth. It is understood that the limitations above referred to are as follows, the said operation company is to commence said well on the Ashley Valley structure within six months after the completion of the deep test well which shall first be drilled on the Rangley structure in Northwestern Colorado, said well on the Rangley structure shall be commenced as soon hereafter as weather conditions will permit and not later than the summer of 1931, after the commencement if each of the said wells, the drilling operations shall be presented with reasonable diligence. If said test well upon the Ashley Valley structure shall not be drilled as herein contemplated, then in that event the parties of the second part hereby agree to reconvey the royalty interests herein assigned to them to the respective parties of the first part. In Witness whereof we have hereunto set our hands and set opposite our respective names the presentage of royalty interest affected by this agreement and have caused this assignment of One third $\frac{1}{3}$ thereof to be executed.

NAME	Royalty
Lusius A Dick	$\frac{1}{2}\%$
James Wash Sheridan	1%
J. N. Wyman	$\frac{1}{2}\%$
Ida H. Sheridan	$\frac{1}{2}\%$
Francis Hamilton Sheridan.	1%
Mayme Wyman	
N. J. Meagher	2%
W. N. Preas	1%
<i>parties of the first part;</i>	
Ray Phebus	
Paul Stock	
<i>parties of the second part; "</i>	

Since the Clerk has numbered all of the Transcript of Proceedings as page 45 of the Record, we shall refer hereafter to pages of such Transcript with the letter "T".

With reference to Exhibit C, it was stipulated by the parties that a well was drilled on the Rangely Structure in Northwestern Colorado by Standard Oil Company of California or one of its subsidiaries, and that such well was spudded in on May 19, 1931 and completed on July 31, 1933, at a depth of 7,155 feet. This well was the deep test well on the Rangely Structure referred to in Exhibit C (T. 10). It was likewise stipulated (T. 10) that neither the Standard Oil Company of California, its wholly owned subsidiary the California Company, nor any other subsidiary of Standard Oil Company of California referred to in Exhibit C, commenced a well within six months after the completion of the test well on the Rangely Structure on July 31, 1933, nor at any other time drilled any oil or gas well upon the 440 acres of land described in Exhibit C. *The conditions precedent to the effective assignment set forth in exhibit C were never performed.*

Subsequent to the execution of Exhibit C and on April 30, 1931, Ray Phebus and Paul Stock entered into a contract with Standard Oil Company of California with reference to drilling operations on said land (Exhibit D). On November 30, 1931 Paul Stock and Ray Phebus assigned to Standard Oil Company of California such oil royalties as they had acquired, among other royalties, under the assignment of October 11, 1930, set forth above as Exhibit C (Exhibit F). On December 31, 1931 the

Standard Oil Company of California assigned its rights acquired under the grants to it from Phebus and Stock of April 30, 1931 and November 30, 1931 to its wholly owned subsidiary the California Company (Exhibit G). On March 21, 1934, the California Company assigned back to Ray Phebus and Paul Stock all of its oil and gas rights acquired in the property reciting that it had elected not to commence the drilling of a test well on the Ashley Valley Structure (Exhibit H).

There are in the record a number of exhibits affecting title to the property and the oil and gas rights located in and upon the same, dated subsequent to the reconveyance to Phebus and Stock of the California Company. On January 19, 1945 Ray Phebus and Ella Phebus, his wife, quit claimed to respondent Joe T. Juhan, all of their right, title and interest in and to said lands (R. 15). On April 14, 1945, Paul Stock quit claimed his interest in said lands to Charles S. Hill (R. 15). On January 5, 1946, Charles S. Hill and Virginia W. Hill, his wife, quit claimed their interest in said lands to Joe T. Juhan (R. 15). On July 12, 1948, Joe T. Juhan and Genevieve Juhan, his wife, quit claimed to Paul Stock an undivided $\frac{1}{4}$ interest in said lands (R. 15). On January 11, 1946, Joe T. Juhan and Genevieve Juhan, his wife, quit claimed to respondent Equity Oil Company an undivided $\frac{1}{2}$ of their interest in said lands (R. 15). On December 30, 1947, Equity Oil Company quit claimed to Weber Oil Company all of its right, title and interest in and to said lands (R. 16).

On December 30, 1948, respondents Equity Oil Com-

pany and Weber Oil Company, Joe T. Juhan and Paul Stock made and entered into an operating agreement wherein Weber Oil Company, Joe T. Juhan and Paul Stock were designated as non-operators, and Equity Oil Company was designated as operator. Under the terms of this agreement, the 440 acres of land here involved were to be drilled, developed and operated for the purpose of exploring, developing and removing oil and gas therein contained, and Equity Oil Company was given certain liens upon the oil and gas derived from said lands as protection for their expenditures, and as such operators likewise were charged with and did distribute royalty payments to the various royalty owners (Exhibit I, to which is attached the accounting procedures to be followed).

All of these various agreements and deeds were duly recorded in the Office of the County Recorder of Uintah County at Vernal, Utah.

The signature of appellant on Exhibit C was notarized on October 17, 1930 (T. 14). Appellant did not prepare or request preparation of the agreement, and so far as he can recall he had not actually seen it prior to the date on which it was executed (T. 14).

Exhibit C states that "In consideration of the premises of procuring the drilling of a deep test well on said land for the consideration of \$1.00 and other valuable consideration" Appellant tendered proof that he did not receive the \$1.00 referred to in Exhibit C, which tender was rejected by the Court (T. 16).

The property involved in this action lies approximately

8 to 8½ miles away from Vernal (T. 31). At the time of execution of Exhibit C in 1930 appellant was in the sheep business (T. 13), and spent a generous portion of his time in various states buying and selling such livestock.

In 1943 Joe T. Juhan was engaged in salvaging pipe near the property in question which had been used to place gas in the town of Vernal (T. 55), of which appellant was aware. In 1946 appellant was present for a part of one day at the Vernal Court House where the trial of *Meagher v. Uintah Gas Company and Valley Fuel Supply*, 185 P. (2d) 747, was in progress (T. 82). He testified that this case did not involve any problems with reference to the oil royalty which is the subject of present litigation (T. 68).

In July of 1948 appellant saw a bulldozer working on the property, and was advised by a workman that he thought that an oil well was going to be erected (T. 28). This was the first time that appellant had any knowledge or information whatsoever that anyone was drilling or proposing to drill an oil well on the property here involved (T. 28). His first knowledge that a well was actually being drilled for oil was in July 1948 when he saw a rig going up (T. 27 and 28) but he had no idea as to who was drilling or proposing to drill such an oil well. Equity Oil Company, the operator under Exhibit I, which was the agreement actually dated December 30, 1948, between itself, Weber Oil Company and Juhan and Stock, spudded in a well on the property on August 1, 1948, which was completed as a producing well on September 18, 1948 (T. 75).

About noon of November 18, 1948, appellant received a check from the Equity Oil Company (Exhibit K), which contained an endorsement, from which he gathered for the first time that there was some question as to whether or not there was an adverse claim to his $\frac{1}{3}$ of 1% oil royalty (T. 18). *So far as he knew this was the first information from any source that there was such an adverse claim on the part of respondents or their predecessors in interest in existence subsequent to 1933* (T. 17). On that same afternoon he attempted to call Mr. Paul Stock at Cody, Wyoming (T. 18) where he was advised that Stock was at the Brown Palace Hotel at Denver, Colorado (T. 18). He reached him later that afternoon, advised him that he had received the first royalty check and asked him what was meant by the endorsement referring to the $\frac{1}{3}$ of 1%. Stock then advised appellant that the Stock and Phebus agreement was a long time ago and that he didn't recall the particulars but would look into it and advise appellant (T. 18). Shortly thereafter appellant contacted J. L. Dougan, President of the Equity Oil Company, when he again asked about the $\frac{1}{3}$ of 1% royalty, and was advised that the only thing Dougan could do would be follow the advice of his attorney, and that if Paul Stock executed a reconveyance he would be glad to make payment for the royalty on the $\frac{1}{3}$ of 1% (T. 22). Appellant continued his efforts to reach Stock, who shortly after Christmas of 1948 had gone to the Hawaiian Islands (T. 23). In March of 1949 he talked to Stock and arranged a meeting at Salt Lake City with him (T. 24) for the following day.

Stock was not present for such meeting (T. 24), and appellant was not able to see him prior to the commencement of the initial action, notwithstanding a determined effort to do so (T. 25 and 26).

Prior to November 1948, appellant had not requested reassignment of the $\frac{1}{3}$ of 1% royalty from any of the respondents herein, as he was very sure they had no interest in his full 1% royalty (T. 48). On April 12, 1949, acting upon the advice of counsel, appellant wrote a letter to Paul Stock at Cody, Wyoming, wherein he stated that Mr. Phebus, Mr. Dougan and Mr. Juhan had all assured him they were willing to reconvey, and also that Phebus stated he thought this had been done a long time ago. In this letter he also mentioned the possible necessity of a law suit and requested Stock to execute an assignment which was enclosed, and which the letter stated would constitute a purchase on his part of $\frac{1}{3}$ of 1% (Exhibit 2, T. 50). Enclosed with this letter was a post office money order for \$10.00 (T. 51). Because of his previous experience with the Bank of Vernal, he was under the impression that any such document required a monetary consideration for its validity (T. 60). At this time appellant had received monthly royalty checks from Equity Oil Company based upon $\frac{2}{3}$ of 1% of royalty (there has never been any dispute as to his ownership of this fractional interest) for a period of five months (T. 59), totaling \$319.53 (Exhibit J), and he entertained no thought whatsoever that the \$10.00 payment was in any way to represent the value of the royalty or an actual purchase of any royalty interest (T. 60, 61).

On December 29, 1927, W. N. Preas and Ella L. Preas, his wife, executed a quit claim deed to said land to N. J. Meagher of Vernal, Utah (Exhibit B). When it appeared that through inadvertance this had included the royalty interest of appellant, on November 28, 1931, N. J. Meagher and appellant executed an agreement and assignment stating that said quit claim deed was not intended to and did not transfer the royalty interest, and formally quit claiming such interest back to appellant (R. 13). Later on, on April 28, 1948, N. J. Meagher prepared and executed an identical instrument (Exhibit I).

The only witness who appeared in behalf of respondents was Joe T. Juhan (T. 75). He stated that in April, 1948, he had held a conversation with appellant at Vernal and advised him that a well was going to be drilled and that appellant should get a deed from Meagher for his royalty, and that he didn't think Meagher would ever give him a deed (T. 77). He went on to testify that notwithstanding the fact that he had seen appellant a number of times subsequent to 1943, he had never discussed the agreement between appellant and Phebus and Stock (Exhibit C) with him (T. 88). Further, he had examined the records in Uintah County in 1943, and had seen a copy of this agreement, and that he knew at that time that no well had been drilled on the Ashley Valley Structure lands here involved (T. 83, 85 and 86). When asked why it was that he felt appellant had no interest in the oil royalty he stated (T. 88): "Because I had seen a document of record someplace where he had assigned it to Meagher, but I never found where Meagher had assigned

it back to him." Later, he changed this statement to include the Phebus and Stock agreement (R. 91).

At the time of drilling the well, Juhan testified that he had relied upon the record title and the Supreme Court decision (T. 80), which decision was *Meagher v. Uintah Gas Company and Valley Fuel Supply*, 185 P. (2d) 747 (T. 82). He continued that he understood that this decision was relative to a modification agreement, and didn't know whether or not it involved the Phebus and Stock agreement (T. 89). In fact, there was no issue nor reference in this case to such agreement. When asked whether the well would have been drilled, Juhan replied that they probably would not have drilled with an outstanding royalty of 18½% (T. 90).

The issue in this case involves only one third of the 1% royalty received by appellant from M. P. Smith (Exhibit A). Following the issue of the initial royalty check on November 17, 1948 by Equity Oil Company, based upon two-thirds of the 1% interest, which check was the first notice appellant had that the respondents claimed any interest in the one third interest, respondent Equity Oil Company continued to forward such checks each month thereafter. A summary of these checks is contained in Exhibit J, and fifty percent of the total amount would equal the value of the one-third of 1% royalty payments, or \$9,284.88, as appellant does not question the accounting accuracy of this Exhibit. Appellant has not cashed, pledged, or in any way used these checks because of the endorsement placed thereon by Equity Oil Company, notwithstanding the fact that there

has never been the slightest question as to his right to receive the amounts of these checks which represent proceeds of the remaining $\frac{2}{3}$ of 1% royalty. The endorsement reads as follows:

“Payment in full oil produced and sold during October 1948 Ashley Valley No. 1 well under Modification Agreement dated May 21, 1927; royalty interest 1% from M. P. Smith February 3, 1925, less assignment $\frac{1}{3}$ of 1% to Paul Stock and Ray Phebus October 11, 1930; and the payee, by endorsement of check attached, represents that he is the holder and owner of the royalty interest in the amount stated.”

STATEMENT OF POINTS

Appellant relies upon the following points:

POINT I. THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN MAKING AND ENTERING ITS CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, FOR THE REASON THAT THE SAME ARE CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE AND STIPULATED FACTS, AND AGAINST LAW.

POINT II. THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN MAKING AND ENTERING JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF RESPONDENTS AND AGAINST APPELLANT, NO CAUSE OF ACTION, FOR THE REASON THAT SAID JUDGMENT IS CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE AND STIPULATED FACTS, AND AGAINST LAW.

POINT III. THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN MAKING AND ENTERING ITS FINDINGS OF FACT, THE SAME BEING CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE AND STIPULATED FACTS.

POINT IV. THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING APPELLANT'S TENDER OF PROOF THAT APPELLANT DID NOT RECEIVE \$1.00, WITH REFERENCE

TO THE EXECUTION OF THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN APPELLANT AND PHEBUS AND STOCK, FROM WHICH ANY RIGHT OF RESPONDENTS MUST ORIGINATE.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN MAKING AND ENTERING ITS CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, FOR THE REASON THAT THE SAME ARE CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE AND STIPULATED FACTS, AND AGAINST LAW.

POINT II. THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN MAKING AND ENTERING JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF RESPONDENTS AND AGAINST APPELLANT, NO CAUSE OF ACTION, FOR THE REASON THAT SAID JUDGMENT IS CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE AND STIPULATED FACTS, AND AGAINST LAW.

Both of the first two points are concerned with the fact that the Trial Court failed to properly construe the basic agreement between appellant and Phebus and Stock, under which no right vested until there had been a performance of the condition set forth, and which contemplated the drilling of a well upon the lands in question by Standard Oil Company, or its subsidiary, within the time limits indicated. For this reason these points will be considered together under the following headings.

A. An oil royalty is an interest in real property.

The case is essentially a quiet title action to remove a cloud evidenced by Exhibit C. In determining the nature and effect of this agreement, it is necessary to establish the nature of the royalty interest with which such instrument is concerned, i.e., whether that royalty is real property or personalty. This question, so far as

appellant can determine, is of first impression in Utah. Appellant's position is that the royalty here involved is real property.

As the discovery of oil in other states produced litigation in the field of oil and gas law, there was an early confusion in the cases from such jurisdictions on this question. This arose principally because of the migratory nature of oil beneath the land surface, which distinguished it from other minerals. In the early stages of the legal development in the various states concerned with oil rights, the courts reached the conclusion that interests in oil and gas, whether royalty or otherwise, are interests in real property. This is the position of all states today in which the question has arisen, although there is a variance as to the precise nature of that real property interest. See annotations: *Oil and Gas Royalty as Real or Personal Property*, 90 A.L.R. 770; 101 A.L.R. 884; 131 A.L.R. 1371.

In *Tennant v. Dunn*, 110 S.W. (2d) 53, the Texas view is summarized as follows:

“While there was, prior to the decision of *Sheffield v. Hogg*, 124 Tex. 290, 77 S.W. (2d) 1021, 1024, 80 S.W. (2d) 741, confusion in the opinions of the courts of this state as to the nature of royalty interests, it is settled by that decision that royalties, whether payable in money or in kind, issuing out of the ordinary oil and gas leasehold estate, a determinable fee, ‘are interests in land; and hence not subject to parol sale, but have the protection of the statute of frauds, the statutes regulating conveyances and mortgages of real estate, and the statutes requiring the record

of instruments affecting title to or liens on land.' ”

“The gist of the opinion in *Sheffield v. Hogg* is that oil and gas royalties, whether payable in kind or in money, and whether arising from the ordinary lease of land in which the lessor owns the minerals, or from a lease made under the Relinquishment Act, should be adjudged to be present interests in land rather than mere rights in personalty at some uncertain date, because they are profits arising out of land, and, further, because such classification, which accords with the practice in the oil and gas industry, furnishes a stability highly important, if not essential to the structure of that business. For the same reasons, the right created by the assignment to Mrs. Dunn should be classified as an interest in land.”

Sheffield v. Hogg, 77 S.W. (2d) 1021, 1024, 80 S.W. (2d) 741, indicates a practical reason why oil and gas royalties should be treated as real property:

“The oil industry in Texas is largely dependent for development, growth, or prosperity, on the doctrine that the interests we are considering—such as the Lessee’s and the Lessor’s estates under contracts which are in customary use in Texas—are interests in land; and hence not subject to parol sale, but have the protection of the statute of frauds, the statutes regulating conveyances and mortgages of real estate, and the statutes requiring the record of instruments affecting title to or liens on land, so that purchasers can rely on deed and lien records and can execute and receive transfers and conveyances in reliance on true abstracts of title and lawyers’ correct opinions thereon. Were the stability furnished by these rules withdrawn and the fundamental contracts, on which the oil business so largely rests,

be adjudged by the Supreme Court to create mere rights in personalty at some uncertain date in the future, the structure of the business would be seriously, if not fatally, jeopardized."

The decision in *Callahan v. Martin*, 43 P. (2d) 788, (Calif.), likewise holds that royalty interests are real property, but upon a different premise than the Texas view. Thus at page 791:

"Some jurisdictions adhere to the theory that the owner of land has as estate in oil and gas beneath the surface in like manner as he has an estate in the surface; that oil and gas in place beneath the surface of land constitute a part of the land, and as such are real property, may be granted separate and apart from the surface, and when so granted vest in the assignee an estate in definite corporeal real property. This theory cannot be better enlarged upon than by the following quotation from *Texas Co. v. Daugherty*, 107 Tex. 226, 176 S.W. 717, 719, 720, L.R.A. 1917F, 989:

"'It is no longer doubted that oil and gas within the ground are minerals. They have peculiar attributes not common to other minerals because of their fugitive nature or vagrant habit—the disposition to wonder or percolate, and the possibility of their escape from beneath one part of the surface of the earth to another. Nevertheless, they are to be classed as minerals. (Citing authorities) In place, they lie within the strata of the earth, and necessarily are a part of the realty. Being a part of the realty while in place, it would seem to logically follow that, whenever they are conveyed while in that condition or possessing that status, a conveyance of an interest in the realty results. It is generally conceded that, for the purpose of ownership and conveyance of

solid minerals, the earth may be divided horizontally as well as vertically, and that title to the surface may rest in one person and title to the strata beneath the surface containing such minerals in another. * * *

“ ‘If they are in place beneath the tract, they are essentially a part of the realty, and their grant, therefore, while in that condition, if effectual at all, is a grant of an interest in the realty. * * * Their conveyance while in place, if the instrument be given any effect, is consequently the conveyance of an interest in the realty.’ See, also, *Stephens v. Mid-Kansas Oil & Gas Co.*, 113 Tex. 160, 254 S.W. 290, 29 A.L.R. 566, note, 585; *Leonard v. Prater* (Tex. Com. App.) 36 S.W. (2d) 216, 86 A.L.R. 499, note, 506.”

The decision’s reasoning turns to the early common law for analogy, and concludes that an oil royalty is a profit a prendre, and an estate in realty. At page 793, it states:

“* * *Of the ancient incorporeal hereditaments listed by Blackstone, several either are not recognized at all in this country, or, if they do not involve rights in or to land, are not classed as things real. But a number of the common-law incorporeal hereditaments which involve rights connected with or pertaining to land persist, and are recognized generally as a species of interest in land, or estate in real property. (Citing authorities.)

“The incorporeal hereditament of common is defined by Blackstone as ‘being a profit which a man hath in the land of another; as to feed his beasts, to catch fish, to dig turf, to cut wood, or the like.’ *Cooley’s Blackstone*, supra, p. 455. These

are the rights which are described as profits a pendre, and they may be several as well as in common. See, discussion, 2 Tiffany, Real Property, 1394."

"Jurists writing since Blackstone's time have remarked that his inclusion of incorporeal hereditaments, together with lands and tenements, as "things, or objects in which dominion or property may be had, is somewhat misleading. See 1 Tiffany, Real Property (2d Ed.) p. 9, note 27, citing Austin, Jurisprudence (3d Ed.) 371, 804; Digby, History Real Property (4th Ed.) 304, note; Hohfeld, 23 Yale Law Journal, p. 23; Salmond, Jurisprudence (4th Ed.) 220. Where the incorporeal hereditament relates or pertains to land, it is, rather, a designation of a certain class of rights in and to land, just as an estate in fee simple absolute is the designation applied to the rights and interests of the person who has the fullest and most absolute estate in lands known to the law. That rights in and to land, though they are embraced within the definition of an incorporeal hereditament, constitute a limited interest or estate in land, is generally recognized. (See cases cited second paragraph above.) Where this limited interest is to endure in perpetuity or for life, it is a freehold interest, and real property or real estate, as well as an estate in real property."

Again at page 795:

"The royalty return which the lessee renders to his lessor for this estate in the land is rent, or so closely analogous to rent as to partake of the incidents thereof. In the lease in the instant case, executed by Gonzales through his guardian, the lessor's oil royalty is referred to as 'rent or royalty.' In discussing the nature of landowner's

royalties, the Supreme Court of the United States said in *United States v. Noble*, 237 U.S. 74, 35 S. Ct. 532, 535, 59 L. Ed. 844:

“The rents and royalties were profit issuing out of the land. When they accrued, they became personal property; but rents and royalties to accrue were a part of the estate remaining in the lessor. As such, they would pass to his heirs, and not to his personal representatives. * * *

“It is said that the leases contemplated the payment of sums of money, equal to the agreed percentage of the market value of the minerals, and thus that the assignment was of these moneys; but the fact that rent is to be paid in money does not make it any the less a profit issuing out of the land.’ ”

At page 796:

“* * * In this analysis, the assignee of an oil royalty not limited to the duration of a particular lease has a right in the nature of a profit a pendre in the land, and this right constitutes an interest in said land an estate in real property. * * *

See also *Payne v. Callahan*, 99 P. (2d) 1050, (Calif.).

In *Arrington v. United Royalty*, 65 S.W. (2d) 37:

“We have held that leases given for a definite period in which exploration and discovery of the mineral might be made, to continue as long thereafter as oil and gas is produced conveys not merely a license but an interest and easement in the land itself. *Standard Oil Co. v. Oil Well Salvage Co.*, 170 Ark. 729, 281 S.W. 360; *Clark v. Dennis*, 172 Ark. 1096, 291 S.W. 887; *Henry v. Gulf Refining Co.*, 176 Ark. 133, 2 S.W. (2d) 687; and *Henry v. Gulf Refining Co.*, 179 Ark. 138, 15

S.W. (2d) 979. As a consequence of this rule, our court has held that an attempted conveyance of the royalty reserved by parol is void, this, of course, being on the theory that the royalty was an interest in real estate."

See also *Marias River Syndicate v. Big West Oil Co.*, 38 P. (2d) 599, (Mont.); *Mark v. Bradford*, 23 N.W. (2d) 205 (Mich.).

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