1954

W. N. Preas v. Ray Phebus et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

1. EXHIBIT "C" IS A TRANSFER OF INTEREST.

Appellant premises his argument on the proposition that no right was vested in Phebus or Stock until they performed the drilling obligations and he says that the trial court misconstrued the clear intent of the parties in that regard. That Exhibit "C" transferred an interest to Stock and Phebus is clearly stated by the terms thereof. The language "* * * the owners of the respective royalties interests as hereinafter set opposite their respective signatures, do hereby sell, assign and set over unto the parties of the second part One third $\frac{1}{3}$ of their respectice royalty interests in the oil produced and saved from said land." The further language of the instrument "If said test well upon the Ashley Valley structure shall not be drilled as herein contemplated, then in that event the parties of the second part (Stock and Phebus) hereby agree to reconvey the royalty interests herein assigned to them to the respective parties of the first part," substantiates the interest as having vested. Furthermore, appellant recognized the interest as having been assigned to Stock and Phebus by his contracts with Meagher on November 28, 1931 and April 28, 1948. This Court in *Meagher v. Uintah Gas Co.*, supra, construed the instrument, Exhibit "C", as being an assignment of the royalty interest "to be reconveyed on condition broken."

The interest having vested, there is no occasion to discuss the "unless" oil and gas lease or the proposition that appellant's remedy is a suit to quiet title.

2. APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO A RECONVEYANCE ACCRUED MORE THAN SIX YEARS PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF THE ACTION.

Section 78-12-1, *Utah Code Annotated* 1953, requires that civil actions be commenced only within the periods prescribed in the chapter "after the cause of action shall have accrued." This Court in the case of *Last Chance Ranch Co. v. Erickson*, 82 Utah 475, 25 P. 2d 952, in a suit brought for specific performance, at page 958 held:

"It is urged by the appellant, and it is conceded by the respondent, that the action was required to be commenced within four years after the cause of action accrued. 'It is a rule of universal application,' said this court in the case of *Sweetser v. Fox*, 43 Utah, 40, at page 48, 134 P. 599, 602, 47 L.R.A. (N.S.) 145, Ann. Cas. 1916C, 620, 'that a cause or right of action arises the moment an action may be maintained to enforce it and that the statute of limitations is then set in motion.' The same doctrine is stated in 17 R.C.L. 748, Section 116. It also is well recognized that, where an agreement is absolute and unconditional, the general rule is that no demand for performance is necessary before action may be brought thereon."

In the instant case the agreement is absolute and unconditional to the effect that if the well was not commenced on the lands involved within six months after the completion of the deep test well to be first drilled on the Rangely structure in Northwestern Colorado Stock and Phebus would reconvey the royalty interest. No demand was contemplated nor was the same necessary before an action might be brought. The deep test well was completed on the Rangely structure on the 31st day of July, 1933. It was not until May 16, 1950 that this action was commenced — more than a year and a half after the discovery of oil on the premises. The action was properly held to be barred by the six year Statute of Limitations relating to written instruments, Section 78-12-23, subsection 2, *Utah Code Annotated* 1953, and most certainly by laches, so dramatically evidenced by the record.

CONCLUSION

Appellant in his academic brief would attempt to divert our energy. Appellant would welcome some expression from this Court encouraging the assertion of stale demands but, in light of what this Court has said in the Meagher case and what the legislature has said about

the timely assertion of actions upon contract, we doubt the necessity of joining with appellant in the realm of conjecture and in the mooted of academic problems.

The judgment appealed from should be affirmed.